I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER: 

The Petitioner is Johnson Brothers Contracting, Inc., Appellant in 

the Division III Court of Appeals and Plaintiffbelow (hereafter JBC). 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION: 

Appellant JBC petitions this Court for review of the decision of the 

Division III Court of Appeals, No. 321657, in Johnson Brothers 

Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins and Badissy, filed on September 24, 2015 

(attached as Appendix A hereto). 

Ill. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The Division III Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed the trial 

court's ruling that a hindsight technical legal right to the control of 

documents trumps the undisputed practical inability to obtain them despite 

the repeatedly unsuccessful exhaustive best efforts employed in full 

compliance with both the spirit and intent of the rules such that there was 

never any willful discovery violation of CR 34, CR 26(g), or CR 26( e). 

The Appellate Court also erroneously affirmed the trial court's 

award of a mistrial and $16,000 in sanctions as the allegedly least necessary 

sanction allegedly serving the purposes of sanctions based on the technical 
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hindsight ruling of imputed willfulness against an innocent plaintiff who 

merely lost and then by pure luck found at the last minute its own helpful 

corroborating photographs supporting its own cumulative proofs of 

damages already described in testimony by the eye witnesses to that same 

damage including the one who actually took the photographs. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS: The Plaintiff, its 

employees and both its former and current counsel did not know who had 

the photographs of the damages to the equipment at issue. 

Using after the fact hindsight, the appellate court erroneously 

assumed that the Plaintiff always knew from start to finish that it had 

actually given the photographs of the damages to its former counsel and that 

Plaintiff actually knew its former counsel did in fact actually have the 

photographs. Appendix A, page 4, lines 4-6, and lines 16-17. To the 

contrary, Plaintiff merely "thought" the photographs might have been given 

to former counsel but Plaintiffs employees "were not sure exactly what 

happened to the pictures or where they were if the attorneys didn't have 

them." CP-44, lines 12-16, CP-45. 

The Plaintiff was simply not sure and did not have any actual 

knowledge of where the photographs actually existed, even after checking 
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with all its current and former employees and all its witnesses, former 

counsel, and even the sheriff. CP-44, lines 3-7. 

On or about November 17, 2010, Defendants served the Plaintiff 

with a CR 34 discovery production request which also included a request 

for any photographs in the Plaintiffs possession or control. CP-44, lines 

21-25. Between December 2010 and March of 2011, in response to the 

Defendants discovery request, Plaintiffs counsel asked former counsel a 

second time to look for the photographs, but she confirmed again that she 

did not have them and in fact she didn't remember ever receiving any 

photographs and had no idea where they were or who had them last. RP-

259, lines 14-20, and CP-44, lines 7-11, CP-231-232; Appellate Court 

Decision, Appendix A hereto, page 5, second full paragraph. 

In fact, Plaintiffs counsel spent many months performing the CR 

34 requested search for the photographs pursuant to the defendants' 

discovery request, again checking with all the current and former Plaintiff 

employees, all the witnesses, the Sheriffs department, the responding 

deputy, as well as former counsel, all to no avail. CP-44, lines 24-31; CP-

231-232. All the facts thereon were uncontested and in fact, Respondents 

readily acknowledged that "When working on his client's [discovery] 

answers and responses, Mr. Trujillo telephoned Ms. Meacham to ask if she 
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know about any photographs. Ms. Meacham reported back [to Mr. 

Trujillo] that 'in fact [she] didn't remember ever getting any photos. 

Respondent's Brief, page 20, lines 2-5 (citing Appellant's Opening Brief 

page 5, top paragraph, (citing CP-44, lines 7-11)). 

In fact, Ms. Meacham confirmed that she personally searched for 

the photographs in good faith as requested. CP-231, lines 22-24. After 

exhausting all efforts to see if there were any photographs, Plaintiffs 

current counsel gave all the responsive answers and production that was 

possible and signed the CR 26(g) certification to confirm that the discovery 

answers and document produced were produced after a reasonable and 

diligent search of all the evidence and records within the Plaintiffs 

possession and control after consultation with all the personal with any 

knowledge or possible knowledge. CP-44, line 34 to CP-45, line 4. 

While Plaintiff had no photographs to produce, Plaintiff did produce 

employee time cards expressly stating that employee Richard Holcomb had 

spent time taking pictures of the damages to the equipment which was 

described in detail in both the complaint and the discovery answers. CP-

45, lines 4-1 0; CP-34-40. Plaintiffs counsel also informed defense 

counsel that if the photographs were ever located they would be produced. 

RP-261, lines 11-15. When deposed by the Defendants, Plaintiffs 
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witnesses also described the damages and again confirmed that photographs 

had been taken which they thought had been given to former counsel but 

that former counsel had denied having any photos and didn't remember ever 

receiving any, and if she didn't have the photos they were lost and they 

didn't know where they were. CP-45, lines 12-21; RP-248, lines 5-7; RP-

247, line 22 to RP-248, line 16; RP-249, lines 1-10; RP-266, lines 2-6. The 

trial judge himself noted that Mr. Holcomb, the Plaintiff employee who took 

the photographs of the Plaintiffs damages, testified in court that he gave 

the pictures to someone but couldn't remember who and that they were 

nowhere to be found. RP-267, lines 24 to RP-268, line 2. 

The defendant did not move to compel production of the damning 

photos that would corroborated what the Plaintiffs witnesses were 

truthfully saying about the damages inflicted on the equipment, but taunted 

the Plaintiff witnesses about claiming there were damages but not having a 

single photograph to show they were being truthful. RP-85, lines 10-21; 

RP-199-205. 

Even though the Plaintiff had no leads and no reason or obligation 

to renew any CR 34 discovery searches, and no indication that any further 

searching would do any good, Plaintiffs counsel made a mid-triallast ditch, 

desperation search for the photographs. Former counsel was reached over 
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the weekend on Sunday September 15th, 2013, and she agreed to search her 

files again on late Monday afternoon the 16th, 2013, which by this time were 

archived in a storage unit. CP-46, lines 5-7; Appendix A to Appellant's 

Opening Brief, page 2, lines 6-13. The fact that former counsel's old JBC 

file was now in archives proved to be good luck. While the archived JBC 

file was again found to have no pictures, former counsel caught sight of the 

older previously archived personal file of JBC manager Brent Deroo, and 

therein the photos were found, having been misfiled in JBC employee Brent 

Deroo's personal file instead of the JBC company file. Id; CP-46, line 25 

to CP-47, line 4. 

In full compliance with CR 26( e), once the photos were found and 

verified to exist, Plaintiff then immediately supplemented the discovery and 

personally delivered full sized color copies of the photos to the Defense on 

Tuesday morning September 17th, 2013 at 11:00 am. CP-47, lines 10-28. 

When the second half of the trial resumed on Wednesday the 18th, 2013 after 

several days off, the Plaintiff continued with its case in chief, and had the 

photographs marked as Plaintiffs identification #20. CP-47, lines 27-32. 

The trial then specifically held: "I take [Plaintiffs counsel] Mr. 

Trujillo at his word as an officer of the court that he in fact asked [former 

counsel] Toni Meacham to look for the documents- pardon me, look for 
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the photographs- in November of 2010 [in response to the Defendants' 

November 17, 2010 discovery request], but not again until Sunday, 

September 151
h, 2013." RP-269, lines 21-25. 

However, without any discussion of the application of CR 26( e), the 

trial judge then ruled that the Plaintiffs failure to renew the search after 

complying with the discovery request as best as could be done already was 

"an unreasonable omission". CP-157, page 8, lines 1 0-24; Respondent's 

Brief, page 2, lines 5-8. The appellate court then took the same unfair 

hindsight approach and likewise failed or refused to discussion the 

governing application of CR 26( e) and instead affirmed that there had been 

an "unreasonable inquiry" under CR 26(g) in the search for the responsive 

photographs based on the cases of Physicians Insurance Exchange v. Fisons 

Corp., 122 Wn.2d299, 343,858 P.2d 1054 (1993); Mayerv. Sto Industries, 

Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677,689, 132 P.3d 115 (2006), and Carlson v. Lake Chelan 

Community Hospital, 116 Wash. App 718, 737, 75 P.2d 533 (2003). 

Appendix A, page 12-17. The Appellate court also affirmed punishing the 

Plaintiff for accidently losing its own helpful yet cumulative evidence (not 

for purposely or intentionally withholding any evidence favorable to the 

defendant) all despite the Plaintiffs effort to produce and without serving 

the proper purposes of sanctions either. Appendix A, pages 12-17. 
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V. LEGAL ARGUMENT: 

CR 26( e) governs the supplementation of discovery responses. 

However, CR 26(g)'s duty to make a reasonable inquiry does not impose 

any forever ongoing or continuing duty. Under CR 26(e), the law is clear 

there was no continuing obligation to undertake any further search efforts 

for the desired photographs at any time after the Plaintiff already fully 

completed its exhaustive good faith search and properly gave its CR 26(g) 

certification of the discovery without the photographs because they could 

not be found by the Plaintiff, regardless of having the legal right to request 

the documents. 

Therein, the Court of Appeals erred by assuming that CR 34 requires 

ongoing obligations to search for discovery that was already diligently 

searched for in full compliance with CR 26(g) and that the Plaintiff had ever 

willfully withheld the photographs at all, by imputation or otherwise. The 

appellate court reached this decision by failing or refusing to analyze the 

situation under CR 26( e). 

Any ongoing obligations were governed by CR 26(e) which was not 

implicated until AFTER the photos were found, and even then CR 26( e) 

was fully complied with when the Plaintiff immediately supplementing its 

discovery production with the long lost photographs which were ultimately 
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found by pure luck after extraordinary efforts in the face of what appeared 

to be obvious futility after everyone that Plaintiffs counsel had sought the 

photographs from had already repeatedly looked for them and could not find 

them. CR 26( e) only provides in relevant part as follows: 

A party who has responded to a request for discovery with a 

response that was complete when made is under no duty to 

supplement his response to include information thereafter 

acquired, except as follows: 

(1) A party is under a duty seasonably to supplement his 

response with respect to any question directly addressed to 

(A) the identity and location of persons having knowledge 

of discoverable matters, and (B) the identity of each person 

expected to be called as an expert witness at trial, the subject 

matter on which he is expected to testify, and the substance 

of his testimony. 

(2) A party is under a duty seasonably to amend a prior 

response IF HE OBTAINS INFORMATION upon the 

basis of which (A) he knows that the response was incorrect 

when made, or (B) he knows that the response though correct 

when made is no longer true and the circumstances are such 
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that a failure to amend the response IS m substance a 

knowing concealment. 

(3) A duty to supplement responses may be imposed by order 

of the court, agreement of the parties, or at any time prior to 

trial through new requests for supplementation of prior 

responses. 

(4) Failure to seasonably supplement in accordance with 

this rule will subject the party to such terms and conditions 

at the trial court may deem appropriate. 

CR 26( e)( emphasis added). The key point is that the rule creates a duty 

only if additional information is obtained, not that the party is obligated to 

forever keep searching after a reasonable and diligent search was already 

employed, and the party has already exhausted and answered and certified 

as such to the best of their ability and the standards of a reasonably prudent 

practitioner responding to that discovery. 

Washington Court Rules Annotated Second Edition, Volume Two, 

by Susan E. Foster and Marie G. Aglion of Perkins Coie LLP (2001-2002) 

further explains CR 26( e)'s supplementation obligations as follows: 

Rule 26( e) imposes a limited duty on a party to supplement 

responses to discovery requests with after-acquired 
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information. This duty is imposed if ( 1) the original 

response was incomplete; (2) a question directly addresses 

the identity and location of persons with knowledge of 

discoverable matters; (3) a question directly addresses the 

identity of person expected to be called as expert witnesses 

at trial; or (4) a response that was correct when made is no 

longer true and the circumstances are such that a failure to 

amend the responses is in substance a knowing concealment. 

Apart from these duties, a party is not required to 

automatically supplement its response. 

Many discovery requests include a statement that the 

requests impose a continuing duty on the responding party. 

To the extent that these requests attempt to impose a duty 

greater than that imposed in Rule 26( e), they are ineffective. 

The proper method for obtaining supplementations to 

discovery requests is through a formal request for 

supplementation. Counsel would be well advised to issued 

such formal requests at different intervals as the case 

proceeds towards trial. 
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Id., at page 244. There simply is no continuing duty. That is fatal to the 

Defendants' position and to the trial court's rulings at bar now. 

There is absolutely no legal basis to find any violation of CR 26(g) 

or to award sanctions against the Plaintiff, absent any legal authority 

establishing any continuing duty to search further. On that basis the trial 

Court has improperly concluded that "Mr. Trujillo's failure to renew his 

request for Ms. Meacham to search her files [for a third time after twice 

already confirming to Mr. Trujillo that she did not have the photographs] 

for the photographs between November 2010 and September 151
h, 2013 was 

an unreasonable omission." CP-157, lines 22-24. 

Furthermore, the trial Court engaged in pure and completely 

unsupported hindsight speculation, in spite of the complete absence of any 

duty to do so, that if Ms. Meacham "had been pressed to diligently search 

for them [the photos] during 2011, 2012, and/or the early months of2013, 

it stands to reason that the photographs would have been [found in another 

client's files sitting in a archived storage area and then] disclosed to defense 

counsel well in advance of trial". CP-157, lines 24-27. That finding is 

factually baseless and does not create any hind-sight legal duty under CR 

26( e) to engage in additional searches after having already searching and 

checking with everyone twice, before properly giving the CR 26(g) 
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certification to having already fully completed a reasonable and diligent 

search. Ms. Meacham had twice stated she didn't have the photos. 

In this case, there was no duty or agreement to undertake any further 

search efforts for any photographs or anything else. However, "if they 

were obtained", then and only then did CR 26(e)(2)and(3) mandate prompt 

supplementation at that time. To be sure however, there was no 

commitment or obligation to employ any additional blind searches or to 

repeat the same searches that had already failed, when there were no new 

leads calling for it. If photos happened to be located, then they would be 

produced. That is all. 

In this case, the Plaintiff made a completely voluntary, random, 

desperation third attempt to locate the photos during the trial and Ms. 

Meacham who had twice before looked for the photos but couldn't find 

them, suddenly found them in an archived storage area, misfiled in another 

client's file. At that point, because the photos had in fact been located, the 

Plaintiff then had a CR 26( e) duty to promptly disclose them to the 

Defendants which it did and should be commended for not sanctioned. CP-

152, lines 17-23; RP-258, line 21 to RP-268, line 12; See again Appellant's 

Opening Brief, at Appendix A, page 2, paragraphs 7-9. 
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The hallmark of CR 34 and CR 26(g) production compliance is THE 

PRACTICAL ABILITY TO PRODUCE, not just the legal technicality of 

the mere legal right to produce, which was unfairly used against the Plaintiff 

to shoestring dubious allegations of willful non-compliance by 

simultaneously and intentionally ignoring both truth and reality. As noted 

in Diaz v. Washington State Migrant Counsel, 165 Wash. App. 59 (2011), 

discoverable information under a responding party's actual possession, 

custody and control "may also be found where an entity has access to AND 

THE ABILITY TO OBTAIN THE DOCUMENTS." Id., at 77 (citing Bank 

of N.Y. v. Meridian BIAO Bank Tanzania Ltd., 171 F.R.D. 135, 144 

(S.D.N.Y. 1997)); see also United States v. Goldfine, 169 F. Supp. 93, 

affirmed 268 F.2d 941, Cert. Denied 363 U.S. 842,4 L.Ed.2d 1727, 80 S.Ct. 

1608 (1958); Federal Trade Commission v. Blaine, 308 F. Supp. 932 (D.C. 

Ga, 1970). 

In any event, the appellate court in the case at bar merely ruled that 

Appellant JBC had the imputed ability to produce based solely on a legal 

right - which is only half of the equation on the practical ability to produce. 

In fact, the Diaz court also held that "[t]he burden of demonstrating that the 

party from who discovery is sought has the practical ability to obtain the 
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documents at issue lies with the party seeking discovery. Id., at 78 (citing 

to Golden Trade, S.R.L. v. Lee Apparel Co., 143 F.R.D. 514, 525 n. 7 

(S.D.N.Y. 1992). This is fatal to the Respondents in the case at bar, 

because while they barely showed an imputed legal right to seek the 

documents, they did not ever show or prove that the plaintiff actually had 

the ability to get the documents that the ignorant custodian searched for in 

good faith but could not find. "In the absence of a finding on a factual issue 

we must indulge in the presumption that the party with the burden of proof 

failed to sustain their burden on this issue." State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 

1, 14, 948 P .2d 1280 ( 1997). Again, the touchstone of the entire inquiry is 

"the ability of the opposing party to formulate a response or to comply 

with the request. Panorama v. Golden Rule Roofing, 102 Wash. App. 

422, 431 (2000)( citing to Physicians Insurance Exchange v. Fisons Corp., 

122 Wn.2d 299, 343, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993))(emphasis added). 

However, it was beyond argument and undisputed that despite JBCs 

best efforts and the legal right to ask its former counsel to conduct a search, 

JBC nevertheless did not have the actual ability to comply because the 

documents were genuinely lost. Not even the former counsel knew she had 

the long lost photos misfiled and sitting in a different client's archived file 
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which the Plaintiff JBC actually had no legal right to search anything but 

JBC' s own files. Assuming that a former client has enough presumed 

"control" to demand that a former attorney produce that former client's own 

file, there is no way that authority extends to compelling searches or 

disclosures of contents in other people's files. It is beyond argument that 

JBC did everything it could and should do in response to the discovery 

request. 

Simply put, no reasonable judge could conclude that a more diligent 

search than was done, was required. The trial judge's reasoning was 

internally and fatally inconsistent first finding that the Plaintiff had searched 

for the photographs in response to the discovery request and then later 

claiming another inquest should have been taken again after the CR 26(g) 

certification had been completed at the conclusion of the second exhaustive 

search in response to the discovery request. CR 26( e) simply did not 

require a third search. Plaintiffs counsel's third search was just stubborn 

random persistence, but not an obligation. The third mid-trial search was 

just a random, desperation - I know-you already looked and told me twice 

before that you don't have the photos, but please try again, search. 

The situation at bar is very similar to Panorama Village v. Golden 
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Rule Roofing, 102 Wash. App. 422, 431, 10 P .3d 417 (2003) where the trial

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