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

argument. 

Also by way of example, the Petitioner makes the following 

assertions without providing valid supporting references to the record, 

because no support for them exists within the record: (1) that Division 

Three supposedly used "after the fact hindsight", see Petition, pp.2 & 7; 

and (2) that the plaintiffs witnesses supposedly testified during 

depositions that the at-issue photographs "had been given to former 

counsel", which is cited to a Declaration by plaintiffs counsel- not to the 

deponents' actual testimony, see id., p.5. These assertions are not true. 

They are merely what Petitioner's counsel wishes were true, yet they lack 

valid support in the record. 

As before, this Court should summarily reject the Petition. The 

Petitioner has improperly crammed arguments and unsupported assertions 

into its Statement of the Case.2 

2 Additional assertions by the Petitioner made within its 
"Argument" section also lack substantiation. These include (a) the notion 
that the evidentiary weight of the photographs would have been "helpful" 
to the plaintiffs case, see Petition, pp.l7 -18; and (b) the notion that 
defense counsel "pretend[ ed] to be upset" when the photographs were 
suddenly located, see id., p.l7. 
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VI. THE PETITIONER IGNORES THE STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Another notable deficiency is that the Petition for Review fails to 

recite the applicable standard of review. See Petition, pp.1-18. No doubt, 

this is because the standard is not in the Petitioner's favor. 

This appeal concerns the trial court's imposition of sanctions 

against the plaintiff due to a discovery violation. Thus, the applicable 

standard of review is the deferential "abuse of discretion" standard. See 

e.g., Mayer v. Sto Industries, Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 

(2006) ("A trial court exercises broad discretion in imposing discovery 

sanctions . . . and its determination will not be disturbed absent a clear 

abuse of discretion"); accord Johnson Bros. Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins, 

2015 WL 5619164, at * 5 (citing Mayer v. Sto Industries). 

To be explained below, the Petitioner has not shown that the trial 

court abused its discretion nor that Division Three committed any error. 

The Petitioner simply repeats the same arguments it made to both lower 

courts, in hopes of getting a proverbial third bite at the apple. Those 

arguments are meritless, as they have always been. 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 
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VII. RESPONDENTS' STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Respondents respectfully direct the Court's attention to the 

factual summary provided by Division Three in its decision. That 

summary, rather than the Petitioner's improper "Statement of the Case", is 

what should guide this Court's decision. 

The critical facts are as follows: (1) the defendants served 

discovery requests upon the plaintiff in November 2010, see Johnson 

Bros. Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins, 2015 WL 5619164, at *2; (2) those 

discovery request sought, inter alia, any photographs of the allegedly 

damaged equipment, see id., at *2; (3) in fact, the plaintiffs agents had 

taken photographs in June 2007, yet no photographs were provided in 

response to the defendants' discovery requests, see id., at * * 1-2; 

(4) rather, it was not until September 17, 2015, in mid-trial, that the 

plaintiff first provided copies of the photographs to the defense, see id., at 

*3; (5) the plaintiffs explanation for the untimely disclosure was that the 

photographs had been misplaced by its agents and/or its former counsel, 

Toni Meacham, see id., at **2-4; (6) the untimely disclosure of the 

photographs caused substantial prejudice to the defendants, because their 

trial defense was based on the non-existence of the photographs and 

spoliation of evidence, see id., at **3-4 (citing 3 RP at 243) & at *7 (citing 

3 RP at 270 & 271); (7) plaintiffs current counsel, David B. Trujillo, 
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made no attempt to locate or obtain the photographs during the 31 months 

between service of his client's discovery responses in March 2011 and 

mid-trial on September 15, 2013, which the trial court found to be an 

"unreasonable omission", see Johnson Bros. Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins, 

2015 WL 5619164, at **7-8 (citing 3 RP at 256, 270, 157 & 266-267); 

and (8) the trial court considered permanently excluding the photographs, 

but instead declared a mistrial as an accommodation to the plaintiff and 

ordered the plaintiff to reimburse the defendants' incurred costs and 

attorneys' fees for the aborted trial, see id., at *4 (citing 3 RP at 269). 

Against this backdrop, with all fault lying with the plaintiff's 

agents, the plaintiff's former counsel and the plaintiff's current counsel, 

the plaintiff nevertheless contended (and still contends) that the defendants 

should have been provided no relief. According to plaintiffs' counsel, 

"[i]t's just one of those things in life that happens." See Johnson Bros. 

Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins, 2015 WL 5619164, at *4 (citing 3 RP at 269). 

This is entirely self-serving. The Petitioner wants the defendants to 

receive no reimbursement for the costs and fees incurred on the aborted 

trial, even though all fault lies on the plaintiff's side. See Petition, pp.l7-

18. 

Ill 

Ill 
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VIII. ARGUMENT 

A. The Plaintiff is Asking for an Absurd Result 

At the outset its merits analysis, this Court should briefly reflect on 

what the Petitioner is asking for. Despite all fault lying on the plaintiffs 

side, the plaintiff asks this Court to reverse the reimbursement award to 

the defendants of their costs and fees incurred on the aborted trial. The 

plaintiff wants this Court to "stick" the defendants with financial losses for 

the aborted trial occasioned by the plaintiffs discovery violation. That is 

absurd. How would that be justice? Why should the defendants suffer 

financially due to the plaintiffs violation? The Petitioner's only 

attempted answer is to contend that, contrary to what both lower courts 

held, no discovery violation occurred. That is equally absurd. 

The at-issue photographs were undoubtedly discoverable, 

discovery was sought, and yet the photographs were not timely disclosed. 

They were disclosed mid-trial, nearly three years after they were sought 

via discovery. Petitioner's current counsel invests considerable time and 

space trying to parse the language of the discovery rules and trying to 

focus the Court's attention on his original "certification" of the plaintiffs 

discovery responses back in March 2011. His hope is to distract the Court 

from the fact that he made no renewed effort to locate the photographs 

during the subsequent 31 months. Yet that omission lies at the core of 
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both lower court decisions. 

B. Mr. Trujillo Failed to Exercise Reasonable Diligence 

These photographs were critically important. It was flatly 

unreasonable for Mr. Trujillo to let nearly three years go by without 

renewing any effort to locate them, choosing only to make a renewed 

effort mid-trial after his witnesses had testified poorly. See Johnson Bros. 

Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins, 2015 WL 5619164, at *8 (citing 3 RP 266-

267 & 270) (trial court's observation that the plaintiffs witnesses' 

testimony was "inconsistent" and reflected "little memory of the specific 

damage[s]" to the equipment) & CP 158 (trial court "Order", entered 

11/01/13, p.9, handwritten interlineations) ("The witness[es]' testimony 

&lor memory was poor & inconsistent(,] and their credibility on the 

damages was suspect."). 

Once Mr. Trujillo finally did make a renewed effort, mid-trial, the 

photographs were promptly located. He does not, and cannot, offer a 

reasonable explanation for not making a renewed effort earlier. He 

contends that he had "no indication that any further searching would do 

any good". See Petition, p.5. But that does not excuse his failure to try 

over the 31 months preceding trial. As Division Three wrote: 

Where documents requested in discovery are this important, 
greater diligence is required to establish a reasonable search. 
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See Johnson Bros. Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins, 2015 WL 5619164, at *7 

Mr. Trujillo accuses both lower courts of engaging in "pure and 

completely unsupported hindsight speculation" for holding him 

accountable for not renewing the search until mid-trial. See Petition, p.12. 

To the contrary, it is a matter of basic common sense that if Mr. Trujillo 

had acted diligently, the photographs might have been found prior to trial 

such that the defendants' time and money would not have been wasted on 

an aborted trial. When it really mattered to the plaintiff and its lawyers, 

the photographs were promptly found. Letting 31 months go by without 

making any renewed effort was an "unreasonable omission", as concluded 

by both lower courts. 

Mr. Trujillo's subjective belief that a renewed search would have 

been fruitless is not a valid excuse. An objective standard applies. See 

Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 

299, 343, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). Mr. Trujillo failed to exercise reasonable 

diligence when his actions (and omissions) are evaluated under an 

objective standard. That was the discovery violation and it is what caused 

the mistrial. 

C. The Photographs Were Always Under the Plaintiff's Control 

It is undisputed that the at-issue photographs were always 

possessed by the plaintiffs agents and lawyers. However, the Petitioner 
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contends that because its former counsel was sloppy in her file-keeping, it 

would be unfair to conclude that the photographs were under the 

Petitioner's "control". See Petition, pp.13-16. In this regard, the 

Petitioner argues that it lacked "the ability to obtain the documents" 

because its former counsel had misplaced them. See id., p.14 (citing Diaz 

v. Washington State Migrant Council, 165 Wn. App. 59, 77, 265 P.3d 956 

(2011)). This argument is meritless. 

As explained by Division Three, when a client delivers documents 

to its lawyer, the client has "the legal right to obtain the documents [back 

from the lawyer] upon demand." See Johnson Bros. Contracting, Inc. v. 

Blevins, 2015 WL 5619164, at *6 (quoting Diaz v. Washington State 

Migrant Council, 165 Wn. App. at 78). That Ms. Meacham was sloppy in 

her file-keeping does not change the fact that the plaintiff had the right to 

obtain the photographs back from her. See Johnson Bros. Contracting, 

Inc. v. Blevins, 2015 WL 561964, at *6 (citing Am. Soc 'y for Prevention of 

Cruelty to Animals v. Ringling Bros. & Barnum & Bailey Circus, 233 

F.R.D. 209, 2012 (D.D.C. 2006) ("Because a client has the right, and 

ready ability, to obtain copies of documents gathered or created by its 

attorneys pursuant to their representation of that client, such documents 
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are clearly within the client's control.").3 

Without any supporting citation of authority, the Petitioner 

contends that only "THE PRACTICAL ABILITY TO PRODUCE" the 

documents matters. See Petition, p.14 (capitalization in original). That is 

not what Diaz, nor any decision of this Court, says. The Petitioner is 

simply making things up in hopes of getting a new hearing. 

It would be unfair for the defendants to have to absorb the adverse 

financial impact occasioned by the aborted trial as a result of the sloppy 

file-keeping of the plaintiffs former counsel. Rather, the plaintiff should 

bear that impact because all fault lies on the plaintiffs side and because 

the plaintiff, in turn, has recourse against Ms. Meacham for her sloppy 

file-keeping (whereas the defendants do not). 4 

3 Persuasive out-of-jurisdiction precedents are in accord. See e.g., 
Hanson v. Gartland Steamship Company, 34 F.R.D. 493, 496 (N.D. Ohio 
1964) ("Actual possession of documents sought under Rule 34 is not 
necessary, if the party has control. . . . If the items were originally 
produced by the party or his agents, and then turned over to the attorney, 
they are considered under the party's control"); Poppino v. Jones Store 
Co., 1 F.R.D. 215, 219 (W.D. Mo. 1940) e'It is quite true that if an 
attorney for a party comes into possession of a document as an attorney 
for that party his possession of the document is the possession of the 
party.") (italic emphasis in original) & Axler v. Scientific Ecology Group, 
Inc., 196 F.R.D. 210, 212 (D.Mass. 2000) ("A party must produce 
otherwise discoverable documents that are in his attorneys' possession, 
custody or control."). 

4 The Petitioner is incorrect in asserting that the defendants 
supposedly failed to obtain a ruling that the photographs were under the 
plaintiffs control. See Petition, pp.14-15. Division Three ruled, "the 
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D. Division One's Ruling in Panorama Village is Inapposite 

Echoing its arguments from below, the Petitioner contends that the 

instant case is supposedly "very similar" to Panorama Village 

Homeowners Ass 'n v. Golden Rule Roofing, Inc., I 02 Wn. App. 422, 10 

P.3d 417 (2003). See Petition, pp.l6-17. To the contrary, Panorama 

Village is completely inapposite. 

Panorama Village was a warranty dispute over defective roofs. 

The plaintiff therein retained Kelvin Hill as a testifying expert. Prior to 

Mr. Hill being personally retained as an expert, his company (Access 

Roofing) had inspected the roofs and prepared a draft repair 

estimate/letter. When Mr. Hill was subsequently deposed, the defense 

lawyers "briefly reviewed" his files and "found [the] draft letter". The 

defendant requested a copy of the letter, the plaintiff refused to provide 

one, and the defendant moved to exclude any testimony by Mr. Hill as a 

sanction. See Panorama Village v. Golden Rule Roofing, 102 Wn. App. at 

430-431. 

The trial court in Panorama Village "ruled that the document was 

discoverable and ordered production of the file". However, the court 

"declined to impose sanctions." See Panorama Village v. Golden Rule 

photographs were under Johnson Brothers' control." See Johnson Bros. 
Contracting, Inc. v. Blevins, 2015 WL 5619164, at *6. 
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Roofing, 102 Wn. App. at 431. "In declining to impose sanctions, the trial 

court noted that any potential prejudice from the late discovery of the 

document, after Hill's perpetuation deposition, could be cured because 

Hill was available to testify at trial." See Panorama Village v. Golden 

Rule Roofing, 102 Wn. App. at 431. 

Division One affirmed the trial court's decision in Panorama 

Village, whereas the plaintiff in the instant case is asking for the trial 

court's decision to be overturned. The defense lawyers actually saw the 

at-issue letter prior to trial in Panorama Village, whereas at-issue 

photographs in the instant case were not disclosed until eve of the fourth 

day of trial. These are huge distinctions. 

The critical takeaway from Panorama Village is not that the 

at-issue document was "in the records of [another] company", as the 

Petitioner contends. See Petition, p.l7 (bracketed material in original). 

Rather, the takeaway is that there was still sufficient time to cure the 

prejudice in Panorama Village -that is why sanctions were not warranted 

there. 

The instant case is different from Panorama Village. The trial 

court in the instant case specifically found (via an unchallenged 

Conclusion) as follows: 

The photographs surfaced during trial, specifically on the eve of 
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the fourth day of trial. By that point, the defendants has already 
planned and carried forth their trial strategy. The defendants' 
opening statement, witness cross-examinations and general 
arguments during trial cannot be effectively re-done or amended. 
The defendants have already had to modify their strategy due to 
the unexpected appearance of Mr. Ames at the start of trial. It 
would be unfair and unworkable for defendants Blevins and 
Badissy to re-modify their strategy in the midst of trial, particularly 
given the central importance of the photographs and that so much 
oftrial has already occurred. 

See CP 158 ("Order", p.9, lns.21-29). It follows that Panorama Village is 

inapposite to the instant case. 

E. The Petitioner Has Not Made a Showing of"Abuse of Discretion" 

Once a discovery violation is found to have occurred, "the 

imposition of sanctions is mandatory." Carlson v. Lake Chelan Cmty. 

Hosp., 116 Wn. App. 718, 737, 75 P.3d 533 (2003). The Petitioner has 

not made a sufficient showing that the trial court committed an "abuse of 

discretion". For instance, the Petitioner does not identify any 

different/lesser sanction that should have been imposed. Nor does the 

Petitioner offer anything to show that the award of $16,000 in 

reimbursement was unreasonable or miscalculated. See Petition, pp.17-

18. Instead, the Petitioner effectively places all of its eggs in one basket 

by trying to show that no discovery violation occurred. That effort has 

already been rebutted by the Respondents above. See supra, pp.8-15. 

Ill 
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In Mayer v. Sto Industries, this Court held that "[t]he trial court did 

not abuse its discretion in determining that the [plaintiffs] should be fully 

compensated for the money wasted on the first trial and for the loss of use 

of that sum for the period of time described in the judgment." See Mayer 

v. Sto Industries, Inc., 156 Wn.2d at 692. The same reasoning applies 

here. All fault lies on the plaintiffs side, so the reimbursement award to

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